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Defendant Microsoft Corporation (“Microsoft”) responds separately to the allegations set 

forth in the Federal Trade Commission’s (“FTC” or the “Commission”) Complaint for a 

Temporary Restraining Order and Preliminary Injunction. Any allegation not specifically and 

expressly admitted is denied.  

INTRODUCTION 

The FTC asks the Court to do something that has never been done before: enjoin a 

vertical merger under Section 13(b) of the FTC Act. The relief the FTC seeks is not only 

unprecedented but deal-killing.  To our knowledge, no unconsummated merger has ever survived 

a Section 13(b) injunction long enough for the FTC to complete its in-house administrative 

adjudication—in which the FTC nearly always rules for itself—and then obtain relief from a 

neutral Article III court. Moreover, the FTC’s case is entirely without merit. Rather than inhibit 

competition, the merger will make Microsoft a more effective competitor to more successful and 

established firms in console, PC, and mobile gaming; it will expand access to Activision content 

to platforms that do not currently have it and likely would not receive it absent the merger; and it 

will drive investment to new technology and content. 

This case involves the vertical merger between the third-place manufacturer of gaming 

consoles and one of dozens of publishers of popular video games. Microsoft competes in gaming 

through its Xbox division (“Xbox”). Since 2001, Xbox has manufactured its Xbox console, and 

through that entire two-decade period, Xbox has lagged behind the dominant console makers, 

Sony and Nintendo, both globally and in the United States. Xbox also makes games for mobile 

devices, such as phones and tablets, but its presence in that market is de minimis. Activision is a 

video game publisher that produces a wide array of games, including some of the most popular 

and profitable mobile games in the world. Microsoft is acquiring Activision to grow its presence 

in mobile gaming. For this deal to be profitable, Microsoft will need to make Activision’s 

portfolio of gaming titles as widely available as possible, including by continuing to sell its most 

popular console game, Call of Duty, on the Sony PlayStation. This economic reality is so 

apparent that the CEO of Sony accurately remarked that Microsoft’s acquisition of Activision 
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was “not an Xbox exclusivity play at all” and predicted that Sony “will continue to see COD on 

[PlayStation] for many years to come.” 

Brushing aside the facts, the law, and the economics, the FTC seeks to block this merger 

based on a tenuous theory that Microsoft will withhold Call of Duty from competitors. Doing so 

would be economically irrational for Microsoft, but regardless, Microsoft cannot do so. After 

agreeing to acquire Activision, Microsoft entered into agreements to bring Call of Duty to 

Nintendo (which has not had Call of Duty on its consoles for over a decade) and to five leading 

cloud gaming services (something Activision has consistently refused to do) for ten years. It has 

made the same offer to Sony, but Sony has refused. Nonetheless, Microsoft has committed to the 

public, its shareholders, and now the Court that it will continue to sell Call of Duty on 

PlayStation if Sony permits it to do so. 

In all events, even if Microsoft had both the incentive and the ability to withhold Call of 

Duty from Sony, doing so would not constitute a “substantial lessening of competition.” The 

acquisition of a single game by the third-place (out of three) console manufacturers cannot upend 

this highly competitive market. Exclusive titles are common in the gaming industry; indeed, until 

relatively recently, most games were available only on a single platform. To this day, Sony and 

Nintendo both have vastly larger libraries of exclusive content than Xbox, including 

commercially and critically successful franchise like The Last of Us, God of War, Spiderman, 

and Mario. Sony in fact has eight exclusive titles for every one Xbox exclusive, and Sony has 

increasingly used its dominant market position to pay third-party publishers a premium to keep 

their games off Xbox entirely. Although Call of Duty is popular, it is not essential content. The 

vast majority of gamers do not play Call of Duty at all, and over the past six years, it has been the 

most played game by month in just two months. Even if Microsoft made Call of Duty an Xbox 

exclusive (which it cannot and will not do), that would do nothing to upset Sony’s dominance in 

the console market—even if every single significant Call of Duty gamer on PlayStation switched 

to Xbox, Sony would still be the number one console. 
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NATURE OF THE CASE1 

1. ALLEGATION: Microsoft and Sony control the market for high-performance 

video game consoles. The number of independent companies capable of developing standout 

video games for those consoles has contracted, with only a small group of firms commanding 

that space today.  Microsoft now proposes to acquire Activision, one of the most valuable of 

those developers, in a vertical merger valued at nearly $70 billion (the “Proposed Acquisition”2) 

that will increase Microsoft’s already considerable power in video games. If consummated, the 

Proposed Acquisition would be the largest in the history of the video game industry and the 

largest in Microsoft’s history. The Proposed Acquisition would continue Microsoft’s pattern of 

taking control of valuable gaming content. With control of Activision’s content, Microsoft would 

have the ability and increased incentive to withhold or degrade Activision’s content in ways that 

substantially lessen competition—including competition on product quality, price, and 

innovation. This loss of competition would likely result in significant harm to consumers in 

multiple markets at a pivotal time for the industry. 

ANSWER: Paragraph 1 purports to state conclusions of law to which no response is 

required. To the extent a response is required, Microsoft denies those allegations, except that 

Microsoft admits that it seeks to acquire Activision for $68.7 billion, and that this would be the 

highest numerical dollar amount that Microsoft will have paid for an acquisition in its history. 

Microsoft avers that it lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth 

of the allegations concerning the relative size of this acquisition within the gaming industry. 

Microsoft denies the remaining allegations contained in Paragraph 1. 

 
1 Use of headings and subheadings from the Complaint is solely for the benefit of the reader. Microsoft does not 
interpret the headings and subheadings throughout the Complaint as well-pleaded allegations to which any response 
is required. To the extent such a response is required, Microsoft denies all allegations in the headings and 
subheadings of the Complaint.  
2 Use of certain terms or phrases defined in the Complaint is not an acknowledgement or admission of any 
characterization the Commission may ascribe to the defined terms. Unless otherwise defined, capitalized terms shall 
refer to the capitalized terms defined in the Complaint, but any such use is not an acknowledgement or admission of 
any characterization the Commission may ascribe to the capitalized terms. 
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2. ALLEGATION: Microsoft, one of only two manufacturers of high-performance 

video game consoles, develops and sells Xbox gaming consoles. Microsoft is vertically 

integrated: through its in-house game studios, it develops and publishes popular video game titles 

such as Halo. Such in-house games are known as “first-party” titles in the industry. Microsoft 

also offers a leading video game subscription service, Xbox Game Pass, for which customers pay 

a monthly fee to access a library of hundreds of first- and third-party video games for console or 

personal computer (“PC”). The top tier of Xbox Game Pass, called Xbox Game Pass Ultimate, 

includes “cloud gaming” functionality that enables subscribers to stream certain games, as 

opposed to downloading games locally, and then to play those games across a variety of devices 

including consoles, PCs, tablets, and mobile phones. 

ANSWER: Microsoft admits that Xbox, a gaming division of Microsoft, develops and 

sells video game consoles and video games (including the video game, Halo); that games created 

in-house are sometimes referred to as “first-party” titles; that Xbox offers a multigame 

subscription service, Xbox Game Pass, which provides subscribers with access to a catalog of 

hundreds of video games to play on console or PC; and that the Xbox Game Pass Ultimate tier 

offers “cloud gaming” functionality allowing subscribers to stream certain games for play across 

a variety of devices including consoles, PCs, tablets, and mobile phones. Microsoft denies the 

remaining allegations contained in Paragraph 2. 

3. ALLEGATION: Activision develops and publishes high-quality video games for 

multiple devices, including video game consoles, PCs, and mobile devices. Activision’s games 

include high-quality games that are commonly referred to in the industry as “AAA” titles. AAA 

games are costly to produce because of the creative talent, budgets, and time required for 

development. Gamers highly anticipate the release of AAA games. 

ANSWER: Microsoft admits that Activision develops and publishes video games for 

multiple devices, including video game consoles, PCs, and mobile devices and that Activision’s 

games include high-quality games. Microsoft avers that the term “AAA” lacks a defined 

meaning in the industry. Microsoft denies the remaining allegations contained in Paragraph 3. 
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ANSWER: Microsoft denies the allegations contained in Paragraph 8. 

9. ALLEGATION: Microsoft produces its own first-party video game titles. 

Microsoft has acquired over ten third-party studios and their titles in recent years to expand its 

offerings. Microsoft has frequently made those acquired titles exclusive to its own consoles 

and/or subscription services, eliminating the opportunity for consumers to play those titles on 

rival products or services. By taking games exclusive, Microsoft strengthens the position of its 

console and subscription service products relative to competitors. 

ANSWER: Microsoft admits that it produces its own first-party video game titles; and 

that since 2018, it has acquired 8 companies, one of which operates multiple studios. Microsoft 

denies the remaining allegations contained in Paragraph 9. 

10. ALLEGATION: The Proposed Acquisition is reasonably likely to substantially 

lessen competition or tend to create a monopoly in multiple markets because it will create a 

combined firm with the ability and increased incentive to use its control of Activision titles to 

disadvantage Microsoft’s competitors. The Proposed Acquisition also may accelerate an ongoing 

trend towards vertical integration and consolidation in, and raise barriers to entering, the relevant 

markets. 

ANSWER: Paragraph 10 purports to state conclusions of law to which no response is 

required. To the extent a response is required to these conclusions, Microsoft denies the 

allegations contained in Paragraph 10. 

11. ALLEGATION: Microsoft’s ownership of Activision would provide Microsoft 

with the ability to withhold or degrade Activision content through various means, including 

manipulating Activision’s pricing, degrading game quality or player experience on rival 

offerings, changing the terms and timing of access to Activision’s content, or withholding 

content from competitors entirely. 

ANSWER: Microsoft denies the allegations in Paragraph 11. 

12. ALLEGATION: Microsoft’s past conduct provides a preview of the combined 

firm’s likely plans if it consummates the Proposed Acquisition, despite any assurances the 
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allegations. To the extent the Complaint is quoting from one or more unidentified sources, 

Microsoft respectfully refers the Court to any such source for an accurate and complete statement 

of its contents. Microsoft avers that it lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief 

as to the truth of the allegations concerning Activision’s incentives and business strategy. 

Microsoft denies the remaining allegations contained in Paragraph 13. 

14. ALLEGATION: These effects are likely to be felt throughout the video gaming 

industry. The Proposed Acquisition is reasonably likely to substantially lessen competition 

and/or tend to create a monopoly in both well-developed and new, burgeoning markets, 

including high-performance consoles, multi-game content library subscription services, and 

cloud gaming subscription services. 

ANSWER: Paragraph 14 purports to state conclusions of law to which no response is 

required. To the extent a response is required to these conclusions, Microsoft denies the 

allegations contained in Paragraph 14. 

15. ALLEGATION: Microsoft cannot show cognizable, merger-specific efficiencies 

that would offset the reasonably probable and substantial competitive harm resulting from the 

Acquisition. 

ANSWER: Paragraph 15 purports to state conclusions of law to which no response is 

required. To the extent a response is required to these conclusions, Microsoft denies the 

allegations contained in Paragraph 15. 

16. ALLEGATION: On December 8, 2022, the Commission found reason to believe 

that the Acquisition would substantially lessen competition in violation of Section 7 of the 

Clayton Act, 15 U.S.C. § 18, and Section 5 of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45, and commenced an 

administrative proceeding on the antitrust merits of the Proposed Acquisition. The administrative 

proceeding provides a forum for fact discovery, which closed on April 7, 2023, after all parties 

issued document subpoenas, requests for admission, interrogatories, and conducted over thirty 

depositions of party and non-party witnesses. Pretrial disclosures are underway and the 
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evidentiary hearing is scheduled to begin before an Administrative Law Judge (“ALJ”) on 

August 2, 2023, with up to 210 hours of live testimony permitted by rule. See 16 C.F.R. § 3.41. 

ANSWER: Paragraph 16 purports to state conclusions of law to which no response is 

required. To the extent a response is required to these conclusions, Microsoft denies the 

allegations contained in Paragraph 16, except it admits that the FTC commenced an 

administrative proceeding against Microsoft in December 2022; that fact discovery closed in 

April 2023; that pretrial disclosures are underway; and that an evidentiary hearing is scheduled to 

begin on August 2, 2023. Microsoft denies the remaining allegations contained in Paragraph 16. 

17. ALLEGATION: A temporary restraining order is necessary to prevent Microsoft 

from consummating the Proposed Acquisition until after the fifth business day after this Court 

rules on the Commission’s motion for a preliminary injunction pursuant to Section 13(b), or until 

after the date set by the District Court, whichever is later. Such a temporary restraining order is 

necessary to preserve the status quo and protect competition while the Court considers the 

Commission’s application for a preliminary injunction. 

ANSWER: Paragraph 17 purports to state conclusions of law to which no response is 

required. To the extent a response is required to these conclusions, Microsoft denies the 

allegations contained in Paragraph 17. 

18. ALLEGATION: Preliminary injunctive relief is similarly necessary to preserve 

the status quo and protect competition during the Commission’s ongoing administrative 

proceeding. Allowing the Proposed Acquisition to proceed while the Commission is assessing 

whether it violates Section 7 of the Clayton Act, as amended, 15 U.S.C. § 18 and is an unfair 

method of competition that violates Section 5 of the FTC Act, as amended, 15 U.S.C. § 45, 

would undermine the Commission’s ability to order any necessary relief.  

ANSWER: Paragraph 18 purports to state conclusions of law to which no response is 

required. To the extent a response is required to these conclusions, Microsoft denies the 

allegations contained in Paragraph 18. 
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JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT 

A. Jurisdiction 

19. ALLEGATION: This Court’s jurisdiction arises under Section 13(b) of the FTC 

Act, 15 U.S.C. § 53(b), and under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1337, and 1345. This is a civil action 

arising under the Acts of Congress protecting trade and commerce against restraints and 

monopolies, and is brought by an agency of the United States authorized by an Act of Congress 

to bring this action. 

ANSWER: Paragraph 19 purports to state conclusions of law to which no response is 

required. 

20. ALLEGATION: Section 13(b) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 53(b), provides in 

pertinent part:  

Whenever the Commission has reason to believe— 

(1) that any person, partnership, or corporation is violating, or is about to violate, 

any provision of law enforced by the Federal Trade Commission, and 

(2) that the enjoining thereof pending the issuance of a complaint by the 

Commission and until such complaint is dismissed by the Commission or set 

aside by the court on review, or until the order of the Commission made thereon 

has become final, would be in the interest of the public—the Commission by any 

of its attorneys designated by it for such purpose may bring suit in a district court 

of the United States to enjoin any such act or practice. Upon a proper showing 

that, weighing the equities and considering the Commission’s likelihood of 

ultimate success, such action would be in the public interest, and after notice to 

the defendant, a temporary restraining order or a preliminary injunction may be 

granted without bond. . . . 

ANSWER: Paragraph 20 purports to state conclusions of law to which no response is 

required. 
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21. ALLEGATION: Microsoft and their relevant operating entities and subsidiaries 

are, and at all relevant times have been, engaged in activities affecting “commerce” as defined in 

Section 4 of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 44, and Section 1 of the Clayton Act, 15 U.S.C. § 12. 

ANSWER: Paragraph 21 purports to state conclusions of law to which no response is 

required. 

B. Venue 

22. ALLEGATION: Personal jurisdiction exists where service is effected pursuant 

to a federal statute. Fed. R. Civ. P. 4(k)(1)(C). The FTC Act § 13(b), 15 U.S.C. § 53(b), 

authorizes nationwide service of process. Microsoft is therefore subject to personal jurisdiction 

in the Northern District of California. Venue is proper in the Northern District of California 

under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) and (c), as well as under 15 U.S.C. § 53(b) (“Any suit may be brought 

where such person, partnership, or corporation resides or transacts business, or wherever venue is 

proper under section 1391 of Title 28.”)  

ANSWER: Paragraph 22 purports to state conclusions of law to which no response is 

required. To the extent a response is required to these conclusions, Microsoft denies the 

allegations contained in Paragraph 22. 

C. Assignment to the San Francisco Division 

23. ALLEGATION: Assignment to the San Francisco Division is proper. A related 

proceeding regarding the Proposed Acquisition was filed in the San Francisco Division: 

DeMartini v. Microsoft Corp., No. C-22-08991-JSC (N.D. Cal.). 

ANSWER: Paragraph 23 purports to state conclusions of law to which no response is 

required.  
THE PARTIES AND THE PROPOSED ACQUISITION 

24. ALLEGATION: Plaintiff, the Commission, is an administrative agency of the 

United States government, established, organized, and existing pursuant to the FTC Act, 15 

U.S.C. §§ 41 et seq., with its principal offices at 600 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W., Washington, 
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D.C. 20580. The Commission is vested with authority and responsibility for enforcing, inter alia, 

Section 7 of the Clayton Act, 15 U.S.C. § 18, and Section 5 of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45. 

ANSWER: Microsoft admits the allegations contained in Paragraph 24. 

25. ALLEGATION: Defendant Microsoft is a publicly traded technology company 

incorporated in the State of Washington with headquarters in Redmond, Washington. Microsoft 

sells software, services, and devices across the technology industry and is among the most 

valuable companies in the world. Microsoft’s gaming division produces Xbox hardware and 

Xbox content and services. Its total gaming revenues in FY2022 were over $16 billion. 

Microsoft’s total revenues in FY2022 were over $198 billion.  

ANSWER: Microsoft admits that it is a publicly traded company incorporated in 

Washington with headquarters in Redmond, Washington; that it sells software, services, and 

devices across the technology industry; that its gaming division, Xbox, produces specialized 

Xbox hardware and sells Xbox content and services; and that for fiscal year 2022, Microsoft’s 

gaming revenue was $16.23 billion and total revenue was $198.27 billion. Microsoft denies the 

remaining allegations contained in Paragraph 25. 

26. ALLEGATION: Defendant Activision is a publicly traded company, 

incorporated in the State of Delaware with headquarters in Santa Monica, California. Activision 

develops and publishes video games for consoles, PCs, and mobile devices. Activision’s 

revenues in FY2021, its most recently reported fiscal year, were $8.8 billion. 

ANSWER: Microsoft admits that Activision is a publicly traded company, incorporated 

in the State of Delaware with headquarters in Santa Monica, California; and that Activision 

develops and publishes video games for consoles, PCs, and mobile devices. Microsoft avers that 

it lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the remaining 

allegations contained in Paragraph 26.   

27. ALLEGATION: Microsoft entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger with 

Activision on January 18, 2022, for an all-cash purchase price of $95 per Activision share and a 

total estimated value of $68.7 billion. 
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ANSWER: Microsoft admits the allegations contained in Paragraph 27. 

28. ALLEGATION: Unless temporarily restrained and preliminarily enjoined by this 

Court, Defendants have represented that they may consummate the Proposed Acquisition at any 

time after June 15, 2023. 

ANSWER: Microsoft admits that it represented that it would not consummate the 

Proposed Acquisition up through June 15, 2023. Microsoft otherwise denies the allegations in 

Paragraph 28. 

BACKGROUND 

29. ALLEGATION: Activision’s gaming content is extremely important in a gaming 

industry where content availability shapes gamers’ decisions about which video game consoles 

and services to purchase. If the Proposed Acquisition is allowed to proceed, Microsoft would 

gain control of Activision’s content and have the ability and increased incentive to withhold or 

degrade Activision’s content, which is reasonably likely to reduce competition and cause a 

number of harmful outcomes, including dampened innovation, diminished consumer choice, 

higher prices and/or lower quality products, and harm to the millions of Americans who benefit 

from competition in video game consoles and subscription services. 

ANSWER: Paragraph 29 purports to state conclusions of law to which no response is 

required. To the extent a response is required to these conclusions, Microsoft denies those 

allegations. Microsoft denies the remaining allegations contained in Paragraph 29. 

30. ALLEGATION: Today, gaming is the largest category in the entertainment 

industry, with revenues that far exceed those of both the film and music industries. This year, the 

gaming industry is expected to be worth more than $170 billion in global revenues, five times 

greater than global movie box office revenues. 

ANSWER: Microsoft admits that gaming is a part of the entertainment industry; that in 

2020 the gaming industry was worth $165 billion, with $85 billion coming from mobile gaming, 

$40 billion coming from PC gaming, $33 billion coming from console gaming, and the 

remaining revenue coming from cloud, VR, handheld, and arcade gaming. Microsoft lacks 
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knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations concerning 

the total revenues of the gaming industry in 2023. Microsoft denies the remaining allegations 

contained in Paragraph 30. 

31. ALLEGATION: Gaming’s unrivaled popularity among consumers is expected to 

continue. Microsoft projects global gaming revenues to grow to $500 billion in annual sales by 

2030. Microsoft also expects the number of gamers worldwide to increase significantly, 

expanding by another 1.5 billion players and reaching 50% of the global population over the next 

eight years. 

ANSWER: Microsoft admits the allegations contained in Paragraph 31. 

32. ALLEGATION: Video game content and services are generally available on a 

variety of devices, including video game consoles that are predominantly used for playing video 

games; PCs, including general purpose PCs as well as high-performance gaming PCs configured 

to play computationally demanding games; and mobile devices. 

ANSWER: Microsoft admits that video game content can be played on consoles, PCs, 

and mobile devices. Microsoft denies the remaining allegations contained in Paragraph 32. 

33. ALLEGATION: Consumers purchase consoles based on the technological 

capability of the console, the price, and the games available for that specific console, among 

other factors. 

ANSWER: Microsoft admits that consumers purchase consoles for a variety of reasons. 

Microsoft denies the remaining allegations contained in Paragraph 33. 

II. Consoles3 

34. ALLEGATION: For gamers who play games on gaming consoles today, the 

most popular options, Microsoft’s Xbox, Sony’s PlayStation, and Nintendo’s Switch, come from 

 

3 Plaintiff’s Complaint titled this sub-section as “II” despite this sub-section being the first numbered sub-section 

under the “BACKGROUND” header. For ease of reference, Microsoft conforms all of its answer headings to the 

corresponding headings in Plaintiff’s Complaint.  
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the same trio of companies that have been manufacturing consoles for decades with no 

meaningful new competition. 

ANSWER: Microsoft admits that the most popular gaming consoles include Sony’s 

PlayStation, Nintendo’s Switch, and Microsoft’s Xbox. Microsoft denies the remaining 

allegations contained in Paragraph 34. 

35. ALLEGATION: Since the 1970s, competing video game console makers have 

periodically released consoles featuring the latest technological advances, with a new generation 

of consoles released approximately every five to ten years. Within the video game industry, 

competition for sales and technological supremacy is commonly referred to as “the console 

wars.” 

ANSWER: Microsoft admits that there has been vigorous competition in the gaming 

industry for decades, including competition among video game console makers. Microsoft avers 

that it lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations 

concerning the views of unidentified industry participants. To the extent the Complaint is 

quoting from documents, Microsoft respectfully refers the Court to the documents for an 

accurate and complete statement of their contents. Microsoft denies the remaining allegations 

contained in Paragraph 35. 

36. ALLEGATION: Of these three console makers, PlayStation and Xbox compete 

in a high-performance segment that includes only the most technologically advanced and capable 

consoles. In November 2020, both Microsoft and Sony launched their current generation of 

consoles, the Xbox Series X and Series S consoles (collectively, “Xbox Series X|S”) and the 

PlayStation 5 and PlayStation 5 Digital Edition consoles (collectively, “PS5”), respectively. 

Xbox Series X|S and PS5 consoles are the only high-performance consoles available today, and 

are considered to be in the ninth generation of gaming consoles. In contrast, Nintendo’s most 

recent console—the Nintendo Switch—is not a ninth-generation gaming console. The Nintendo 

Switch was released in 2017, in the latter half of the eighth generation of gaming consoles, which 

had begun in approximately 2013. The Nintendo Switch (“Switch”) also has lower 
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computational performance, more in line with Microsoft’s and Sony’s eighth generation 

consoles. 

ANSWER: Microsoft admits that Xbox, Sony, and Nintendo all currently offer 

competing gaming consoles; that Xbox and Sony released their most recent consoles (the Xbox 

Series X|S and the PlayStation 5, respectively) in 2020; and that Nintendo released its most 

recent console (the Nintendo Switch) in 2017. Microsoft denies the remaining allegations 

contained in Paragraph 36. 

37. ALLEGATION: The Xbox Series X|S are two ninth-generation Xbox consoles 

offered by Microsoft. The Series X is a more powerful console while the Series S is more 

affordable. Together, these consoles provide Microsoft’s “flagship gaming experience.” 

ANSWER: Microsoft admits that the Xbox Series X|S are two Xbox consoles offered by 

Microsoft; that the Xbox Series X is the faster, more powerful model; and that the Xbox Series S 

is a simpler and more affordable model. To the extent the Complaint is quoting from documents, 

Microsoft respectfully refers the Court to the documents for an accurate and complete statement 

of their contents. Microsoft denies the remaining allegations contained in Paragraph 37. 

38. ALLEGATION: Microsoft closely tracks the performance of its Xbox consoles 

relative to Sony’s PlayStation consoles. For example, in FY2022, the first full year that Xbox 

Series X|S consoles were available, one of Microsoft’s key metrics for evaluating success was 

“% Market Share of Xbox Series Consoles vs. PlayStation 5.” In internal communications, 

Microsoft executives regularly discuss Xbox consoles share relative to the PS5 console. 

ANSWER: Microsoft admits that Microsoft tracks the performance of its Xbox consoles 

relative to other gaming consoles on the market. To the extent the Complaint is quoting from 

documents, Microsoft respectfully refers the Court to the documents for an accurate and 

complete statement of their contents. Microsoft denies the remaining allegations contained in 

Paragraph 38. 
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39. ALLEGATION: Xbox Series X|S consoles have been a commercial success. In a 

July 26, 2022 earnings call, Microsoft CEO Satya Nadella announced that the company “ha[d] 

been the market leader in North America for three quarters in a row among next gen consoles.”  

ANSWER: To the extent the Complaint is quoting from or characterizing statements 

made during an earnings call, Microsoft respectfully refers the Court to a transcript or recording 

of the call for an accurate and complete statement of its contents. Microsoft denies the remaining 

allegations contained in Paragraph 39. 

40. ALLEGATION: The Xbox Series X|S and PS5 consoles are “roughly 

comparable” from a broad consumer perspective, in a number of technical specifications, 

including offering similar graphics, user experiences, and hardware features. In addition, the 

Xbox Series X and PlayStation 5 are sold at the same price, while the Series S offers lower 

performance and is sold at a lower price. 

ANSWER: Microsoft admits that the Xbox Series S console is less expensive than the 

Xbox Series X console and the PlayStation 5 console. To the extent the Complaint is quoting 

from documents, Microsoft respectfully refers the Court to the documents for an accurate and 

complete statement of their contents. Microsoft denies the remaining allegations contained in 

Paragraph 40. 

41. ALLEGATION: Other consoles lack the high performance of the Xbox Series 

X|S and PS5 consoles. For example, the Nintendo Switch, which is designed to allow portable, 

handheld use, necessarily sacrifices computing power, which leaves it unable to play certain 

games that require more advanced graphic processing. Retailing at $299.99, the Nintendo Switch 

is also less expensive than the Xbox Series X and PlayStation 5 consoles, both priced at $499.99. 

While the Xbox Series S had the same retail price at launch as the Nintendo Switch, the 

graphical and processing capabilities of the Series S are much more aligned with the Xbox Series 

X and PS5 consoles. The Xbox Series S enables gamers to play the same video games as the 

Xbox Series X, both of which offer more graphically advanced gameplay than on the Nintendo 

Switch. 
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ANSWER: Microsoft admits that different consoles have different technical 

specifications, including varied graphical processing capabilities; that the Nintendo Switch 

console allows portable, handheld use; and that the Nintendo Switch console and Xbox Series S 

console are less expensive than the Xbox Series X console and the PlayStation 5 console. 

Microsoft denies the remaining allegations contained in Paragraph 41. 

III.  Gaming Content 

A. Multi-Game Content Library Subscription Services 

42. ALLEGATION: For the last several decades, gamers have purchased games 

through a “buy-to-play” model: either purchasing physical copies of games or, more prevalent 

today, purchasing digital copies of individual games that gamers download to their gaming 

console, PC, or other device. 

ANSWER: Microsoft admits that gamers have purchased and continue to purchase 

games through a buy-to-play model, purchasing either physical or digital copies of individual 

games for play on gaming consoles, PCs, or other devices. Microsoft denies the remaining 

allegations contained in Paragraph 42. 

43. ALLEGATION: Recent years, however, have seen the expansion of a 

subscription model. Multigame content library subscription services allow gamers to access a 

library of games for a fixed monthly or yearly fee. Microsoft’s multi-game content library 

subscription service, Xbox Game Pass, launched in 2017, rapidly grew to 10 million subscribers 

by 2020 and in 2022 announced it had grown to 25 million subscribers. 

ANSWER: Microsoft admits that multigame subscription services generally allow 

gamers to access a catalog of games for a recurring fee; that Microsoft launched its own 

multigame subscription service, Xbox Game Pass, in 2017; and that other companies have also 

launched multigame subscription services in recent years. Microsoft further admits that Xbox 

Game Pass had 10 million subscribers in 2020 and 25 million subscribers in 2022. Microsoft 

denies the remaining allegations contained in Paragraph 43. 
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44. ALLEGATION: Xbox Game Pass provides subscribers with unlimited access to 

a library of over 300 first- and third-party games at no additional cost. The service is priced at 

$9.99 per month for gamers who seek to download games to play solely on an Xbox console or 

solely on a PC. The higher tiered service, Xbox Game Pass Ultimate, priced at $14.99 per month, 

allows gamers to download games for play on either an Xbox console or a PC, and additionally 

enables gamers to stream games from an off-site server to any web-enabled local device that can 

access Game Pass (e.g., an Xbox console, PC, mobile device, or smart TV). 

ANSWER: Microsoft admits that Xbox Game Pass is a multigame subscription service 

that provides subscribers with access to a rotating catalog of hundreds of games. Microsoft 

further admits that there are three Game Pass offerings: a “Console” offering that allows 

subscribers to download-to-play a catalog of console games on Xbox; a “PC” offering that 

allows subscribers to download-to-play a catalog of PC games on PC; and an “Ultimate” version 

that provides additional features, including the ability to stream a selection of games from the 

cloud to various devices. Microsoft denies the remaining allegations contained in Paragraph 44. 

45. ALLEGATION: Sony also offers a multi-game content library subscription 

service, PlayStation Plus, which at certain tiers is comparable to Xbox Game Pass. The lower 

comparable tier, PlayStation Plus Extra, priced at $14.99 per month, provides access to a library 

of hundreds of games that can be played on PlayStation consoles as well as online multiplayer 

access, discounts on other games, and cloud storage. The higher comparable tier, PlayStation 

Plus Premium, priced at $17.99 per month, provides access to an even larger library of games 

that can be played on PlayStation, along with cloud streaming. 

ANSWER: Microsoft admits that Sony offers a multigame subscription service known as 

PlayStation Plus that, like Game Pass, offers multiple tiers of pricing, including a top tier that is 

reported to provide cloud streaming capabilities. Microsoft avers that it lacks knowledge or 

information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations concerning the other 

features and game offerings available on PlayStation Plus, as well as the pricing of this 

subscription service. Microsoft denies the remaining allegations contained in Paragraph 45. 
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46. ALLEGATION: In addition to Sony’s PlayStation Plus Extra and Premium, 

other multi-game content library subscription services include EA Play and Ubisoft+. EA Play, 

starting at $4.99 per month, and Ubisoft+, starting at $14.99 per month, each offer access only to 

content from the respective publishers, Electronic Arts Inc. (“EA”) and Ubisoft Entertainment 

SA (“Ubisoft”). 

ANSWER: Microsoft admits that EA Play and Ubisoft+ are other multigame 

subscription services. Microsoft avers that they lack knowledge or information sufficient to form 

a belief as to the truth of the allegations concerning the game offerings of EA Play and Ubisoft+, 

as well as the pricing of these subscription services. Microsoft denies the remaining allegations 

contained in Paragraph 46. 

B. Cloud Gaming Subscription Services 

47. ALLEGATION: Today, video game software typically runs locally on the 

player’s gaming device. Recently, however, cloud gaming subscription services have been 

introduced that allow players to stream games that run on remote hardware without downloading 

the game locally. The primary processing for the game occurs in off-site datacenters and a live 

feed of the game is streamed to the player’s device. 

ANSWER: Microsoft admits that video games are typically downloaded to a device and 

played locally; and that at least since 2013, companies have also offered cloud gaming services 

that allow players to play games without downloading them locally, in limited circumstances, by 

streaming games to compatible devices via remote servers. Microsoft avers that it lacks 

knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations concerning 

the features available on cloud gaming services other than those offered by Xbox Cloud Gaming. 

Microsoft denies the remaining allegations contained in Paragraph 47. 

48. ALLEGATION: Microsoft touts numerous benefits of cloud gaming to 

customers. Cloud gaming enables gamers to begin playing a game in seconds, rather than waiting 

for games to download or update, and streaming rather than downloading avoids burdening the 

storage limits on a gaming device. Cloud gaming also broadens access to gaming by expanding 
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the universe of devices that can play games. Today, cloud gaming subscription services are 

available on consoles, Windows PC, Mac PC, Chromebook PC, tablet, mobile phones, and some 

smart TVs, with device compatibility varying by service. This permits gamers to play 

computationally demanding games on less powerful devices that otherwise lack the computing 

power or storage to support the games. 

ANSWER: To the extent the Complaint is quoting or characterizing from one or more 

unidentified sources, Microsoft respectfully refers the Court to any such source for an accurate 

and complete statement of its contents. Microsoft admits that cloud gaming has the potential to 

broaden access to gaming by expanding the universe of devices that can play games. Microsoft 

avers that it lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the 

allegations concerning the features available on cloud gaming services other than those offered 

by Xbox Cloud Gaming. Microsoft denies the remaining allegations contained in Paragraph 48. 

49. ALLEGATION: In September 2020, Microsoft added cloud gaming to its top-

tier multi-game content library subscription service offering, Xbox Game Pass Ultimate. To date, 

more than 20 million gamers have used the service to stream games from the cloud. Microsoft 

has stated that cloud gaming subscription services are integral to its goal of expanding gaming to 

3 billion gamers worldwide and enabling gamers “to play the games you want, with the people 

you want, anywhere you want.” 

ANSWER: Microsoft admits that Microsoft launched cloud gaming as part of the 

Ultimate tier of its Game Pass subscription service in September 2020; and that more than 20 

million gamers have used the service to stream games from the cloud. To the extent the 

Complaint is referencing documents, Microsoft respectfully refers the Court to the documents for 

an accurate and complete statement of their contents. Microsoft denies the remaining allegations 

contained in Paragraph 49. 

50. ALLEGATION: Other cloud gaming subscription services include Amazon 

Luna, Nvidia GeForce NOW, and Google Stadia, although Alphabet Inc. announced that it 

discontinued Stadia in January 2023. Amazon’s Luna+ (a tier of Amazon Luna), priced at $9.99 
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per month with additional options available for further purchases, provides streaming access to a 

library of over 100 third-party games. Nvidia GeForce NOW, priced at $49.99 for six months for 

the Priority tier or $99.99 for six months for the RTX 3080 tier, allows gamers to stream game 

titles that they already own, with the streaming hosted on Nvidia Corporation (“Nvidia”) 

datacenters. Although it will soon be discontinued, Stadia Pro, priced at $9.99 per month with 

additional options for further purchases, allows gamers to stream games from a library of 

hundreds of third-party games. 

ANSWER: Microsoft admits that Amazon Luna and Nvidia GeForce NOW are other 

existing cloud gaming services, and that Google Stadia was another such service that was 

discontinued in January 2023. Microsoft avers that it lacks knowledge or information sufficient 

to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations concerning how these cloud gaming services 

price and host their services. Microsoft denies the remaining allegations contained in Paragraph 

50. 

C. Importance of AAA Games 

51. ALLEGATION: AAA games are particularly important within the gaming 

industry. The term “AAA” is frequently used by industry participants to refer to highly 

anticipated games bearing similar characteristics: high development costs, superior graphical 

quality, and expectations of high unit sales and revenue, typically from a studio with large 

development and publishing teams, supported by extensive marketing and promotion. AAA 

content can act as “tentpole” content, where, as a consultant to Microsoft explained, it “lift[s] the 

entire tent” by attracting a wide variety of players to consoles and subscription services they 

would not otherwise use. Tentpoles are “pre-eminent acquisition and retention drivers.” 

ANSWER: To the extent the Complaint is quoting from documents, Microsoft 

respectfully refers the Court to the documents for an accurate and complete statement of their 

contents. Microsoft avers that it lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to 

the truth of the other allegations concerning unidentified industry participants. Microsoft denies 

the remaining allegations contained in Paragraph 51. 
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52. ALLEGATION: In the words of one Microsoft executive, AAA games are 

“blockbuster[s].” They are also not numerous. Phil Spencer, CEO of Microsoft Gaming, 

estimates there are “probably 10 to 20 AAA games in a given… calendar year” compared to 300 

to 400 console games. 

ANSWER: To the extent the Complaint is quoting or characterizing testimony from an 

investigational hearing of a Microsoft witness, Microsoft respectfully refers the Court to the full 

testimony for an accurate and complete statement of its contents. To the extent the Complaint is 

quoting from documents, Microsoft respectfully refers the Court to the documents for an 

accurate and complete statement of their contents. Microsoft denies the remaining allegations 

contained in Paragraph 52. 

53. ALLEGATION: Production budgets for AAA games frequently exceed $100 

million, if not $200 million, and development teams can include thousands of developers 

working over several years. The high cost of AAA game development is driven by many factors 

such as long development cycles and the scarcity of AAA-capable studios and talent. 

ANSWER: Microsoft denies the allegations contained in Paragraph 53. 

54. ALLEGATION: The gaming industry recognizes a limited top tier of 

independent game publishers, sometimes referred to as the “Big 4” or simply the AAA 

publishers: Activision, Electronic Arts, Take-Two, and Ubisoft. These publishers reliably 

produce AAA games for high-performance consoles and collectively own a significant portion of 

the most valuable IP in the gaming industry. These high-profile franchises include, for example, 

Call of Duty (Activision), FIFA (EA), Grand Theft Auto (Take-Two), and Assassin’s Creed 

(Ubisoft). 

ANSWER: Microsoft admits that Activision, Electronic Arts, Take-Two, and Ubisoft are 

sometimes referred to as the “Big 4”; and that they publish Call of Duty (Activision), FIFA (EA), 

Grand Theft Auto (Take-Two), and Assassin’s Creed (Ubisoft), respectively. Microsoft denies 

the remaining allegations contained in Paragraph 54. 
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ANSWER: Microsoft admits that Call of Duty was first released in 2003. To the extent 

the Complaint is quoting from documents, Microsoft respectfully refers the Court to the 

documents for an accurate and complete statement of their contents. Microsoft avers that it lacks 

knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations concerning 

the sales of different iterations of Call of Duty and the sales of Top Gun: Maverick.  Microsoft 

denies the remaining allegations contained in Paragraph 67. 

THE RELEVANT ANTITRUST MARKETS 

68. ALLEGATION: The Proposed Acquisition will result in a combined firm with 

the ability and increased incentive to withhold or degrade Activision’s valuable gaming content 

to undermine its competitors in multiple Relevant Markets. This anticompetitive behavior is 

reasonably likely to lead to reduced consumer choice, higher prices and/or lower quality 

products, and less innovation, and the Proposed Acquisition will not produce cognizable 

procompetitive effects sufficient to offset such harms. 

ANSWER: Paragraph 68 purports to state conclusions of law to which no response is 

required. To the extent a response is required to these conclusions, Microsoft denies those 

allegations, except that it admits the proposed acquisition will result in a combined firm.  

69. ALLEGATION: The Proposed Acquisition is likely to harm innovation, for 

instance, by decreasing the combined firm’s incentive to optimize Activision’s content for 

gameplay on rival hardware, thereby reducing the quality of consumer gaming experiences on 

competing products. 

ANSWER: Paragraph 69 purports to state conclusions of law to which no response is 

required. To the extent a response is required to these conclusions, Microsoft denies those 

allegations.  

70. ALLEGATION: The Proposed Acquisition is reasonably likely to substantially 

lessen competition or tend to create a monopoly in the Relevant Markets for High-Performance 

Consoles, Multi- Game Content Library Subscription Services, and Cloud Gaming Subscription 
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Services. The Proposed Acquisition is therefore reasonably likely to result in harm to both 

competition and consumers. 

ANSWER: Paragraph 70 purports to state conclusions of law to which no response is 

required. To the extent a response is required to these conclusions, Microsoft denies those 

allegations.  

I. High-Performance Consoles are a Relevant Product Market 

71. ALLEGATION: High-Performance Consoles are a Relevant Market for 

evaluating the likely competitive effects of the Proposed Acquisition. 

ANSWER: Paragraph 71 purports to state conclusions of law to which no response is 

required. To the extent a response is required to these conclusions, Microsoft denies those 

allegations.  

72. ALLEGATION: The only High-Performance Consoles offered for sale today are 

the most recent generation of Microsoft Xbox and Sony PlayStation consoles—the Xbox Series 

X|S and the PS5. The Xbox Series X|S and PS5 are therefore included within the Relevant 

Market. 

ANSWER: Paragraph 72 purports to state conclusions of law to which no response is 

required. To the extent a response is required to these conclusions, Microsoft denies those 

allegations.  

73. ALLEGATION: The third major gaming console available today, the Nintendo 

Switch, is highly differentiated from the Xbox and PlayStation consoles in significant ways. The 

Nintendo Switch, therefore, is not included in the Relevant Market. 

ANSWER: Paragraph 73 purports to state conclusions of law to which no response is 

required. To the extent a response is required to these conclusions, Microsoft denies those 

allegations. Microsoft denies the remaining allegations contained in Paragraph 73. 

74. ALLEGATION: Microsoft’s Xbox Series X|S and Sony’s PS5 consoles are 

characterized by greater computational power, different content portfolios, different form factors 
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ANSWER: Microsoft admits that the Xbox Series X and PlayStation 5 consoles are both 

priced higher than the Xbox Series S and Nintendo Switch consoles. Microsoft denies the 

remaining allegations contained in Paragraph 78. 

79. ALLEGATION: Since the 2000s, Microsoft and Sony have released new 

console generations largely contemporaneously—most recently in 2020. The prior generation 

(Generation 8) Xbox One and PlayStation 4 were released in 2013, and the current generation 

(Generation 9) Xbox Series X|S and PS5 consoles were released in November 2020. By contrast, 

the Nintendo Switch launched in March 2017, nearly five years after the beginning of the eighth 

generation. 

ANSWER: Microsoft admits that Xbox and Sony released their most recent consoles 

(the Xbox Series X|S and the PlayStation 5, respectively) in 2020; and that Nintendo released its 

most recent console (the Nintendo Switch) in 2017. Microsoft denies the remaining allegations 

contained in Paragraph 79. 

80. ALLEGATION: Microsoft’s own ordinary course documents regularly 

distinguish the closest potential substitute, the Nintendo Switch, from Microsoft’s Xbox Series 

X|S and Sony’s PS5 consoles. Microsoft conceded in a regulatory filing that Nintendo’s Switch 

is a “differentiated” console. 

ANSWER: To the extent the Complaint is quoting from documents, Microsoft 

respectfully refers the Court to the documents for an accurate and compete statement of their 

content. Microsoft denies the remaining allegations contained in Paragraph 80. 

81. ALLEGATION: Due to their distinct offerings, Microsoft and Sony consoles 

appeal to different gaming audiences than the Nintendo Switch. While Xbox Series X|S and PS5 

consoles offer more mature content for more serious gaming, Nintendo’s hardware and content 

tends to be used more for casual and family gaming. 

ANSWER: Microsoft denies the allegations contained in Paragraph 81. 

82. ALLEGATION: Indeed, “dual console owners” are more likely to own one 

High-Performance Console and a Nintendo Switch than two High-Performance Consoles. NPD 
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complete statement of its contents. Microsoft denies the remaining allegations contained in 

Paragraph 84. 

85. ALLEGATION: High-Performance Consoles are a relevant antitrust market. 

However, although the Nintendo Switch is highly differentiated from the Xbox Series X|S and 

PS5 consoles, it shares many of the same characteristics that make High-Performance Consoles 

distinct from PCs, and mobile devices. Accordingly, the anticompetitive effects of the Proposed 

Acquisition alleged in this Complaint are also reasonably likely to occur in a broader market for 

gaming consoles that includes High-Performance Consoles and the highly differentiated 

Nintendo Switch. 

ANSWER: Paragraph 85 purports to state conclusions of law to which no response is 

required. To the extent a response is required to these conclusions, Microsoft denies those 

allegations. Microsoft denies the remaining allegations contained in Paragraph 85. 

II. Multi-Game Content Library Subscription Services are a Relevant Product Market 

86. ALLEGATION: Multi-Game Content Library Subscription Services are a 

relevant product market for evaluating the competitive effects of the Proposed Acquisition. 

ANSWER: Paragraph 86 purports to state conclusions of law to which no response is 

required. To the extent a response is required to these conclusions, Microsoft denies those 

allegations.  

87. ALLEGATION: The Relevant Market for Multi-Game Content Library 

Subscription Services includes services that offer unlimited access to a library of video games 

that are predominantly played on non-mobile devices and are available to play at zero additional 

cost beyond the subscription fee, either via download or cloud streaming. 

ANSWER: Paragraph 87 purports to state conclusions of law to which no response is 

required. To the extent a response is required to these conclusions, Microsoft denies those 

allegations.  

88. ALLEGATION: Microsoft is already a significant player in this market through 

its Xbox Game Pass offerings and continues to expand rapidly in this market. Microsoft offers 
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three tiers of Game Pass, each of which provide unlimited access to hundreds of games, with 

Game Pass Ultimate also providing access to Xbox Cloud Gaming. Microsoft is already the 

market leader with an announced 25 million Game Pass subscribers. 

ANSWER: Microsoft admits that Microsoft has a multigame subscription service known 

as Xbox Game Pass, which has three offerings and gives gamers access to a catalog of hundreds 

of games; that Game Pass Ultimate provides access to Xbox Cloud Gaming, along with other 

features; and that these combined Game Pass offerings currently have approximately 25 million 

subscribers. Microsoft denies the remaining allegations contained in Paragraph 88. 

89. ALLEGATION: Each service competes aggressively to offer the best, most 

exciting titles to attract users to its service, with each attempting to provide access to a 

compelling library of high-end, AAA games. Services offer a range of incentives to developers 

and publishers including attractive revenue splits or co-marketing arrangements in order to 

ensure games are available on their services. 

ANSWER: Microsoft admits that gaming companies compete to improve their 

platforms, including by offering multigame subscription services; that Xbox is working to 

develop Game Pass into a better multigame subscription service; and that Microsoft attempts to 

provide its users with a varied and rotating catalog of games. Microsoft avers that it lacks 

knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the other allegations 

concerning unidentified industry participants and their business practices. Microsoft denies the 

remaining allegations contained in Paragraph 89. 

90. ALLEGATION: Multi-Game Content Library Subscription Services rely on 

distinct pricing compared to the traditional “buy to play” model, where gamers purchase 

individual games for up to $70 per title, or more. Multi-Game Content Library Subscription 

Services seek to offer a new method of accessing games by offering access to an entire library of 

games for a periodic fee, rather than a single title for a fixed cost. 

ANSWER: Microsoft admits that multigame subscription services are a different way to 

pay for games than the traditional buy-to-play model; and that for some customers the multigame 
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ANSWER: Paragraph 92 purports to state conclusions of law to which no response is 

required. To the extent a response is required to these conclusions, Microsoft denies those 

allegations. Microsoft admits that some multigame subscription services provide users with 

access to hundreds of games for fixed periods of time; and that multigame subscription services 

can allow gamers to discover new content they may otherwise have missed or not purchased. To 

the extent the Complaint is relying on documents, Microsoft respectfully refers the Court to the 

documents for an accurate and complete statement of their contents. Microsoft denies the 

remaining allegations contained in Paragraph 92. 

93. ALLEGATION: Subscription services that focus on enabling online multiplayer 

gaming, such as Xbox Live Gold and PlayStation Plus Essential, are not commercially 

reasonable alternatives and therefore are not included in the Relevant Market. Xbox Live Gold 

and PlayStation Plus Essential, as currently structured, award a limited number of free games as 

“bonus content.” These services do not provide access to the same breadth and diversity of 

content as Multi-Game Content Library Subscription Services and do not facilitate the same 

level of game discoverability. 

ANSWER: Paragraph 93 purports to state conclusions of law to which no response is 

required. To the extent a response is required to these conclusions, Microsoft denies those 

allegations. Microsoft admits that Xbox Live Gold and PlayStation Plus Essential offer fewer 

game choices to subscribers than some other subscription offerings. Microsoft denies the 

remaining allegations contained in Paragraph 93. 

94. ALLEGATION: Subscription services that do not offer a library of video games 

that are predominantly played on non-mobile devices are also not commercially reasonable 

alternatives and therefore are not included in the Relevant Market. Mobile-native games are 

distinct from games accessed natively on a console and from the most performant games 

accessed natively on a PC, due to differences in complexity and quality of game performance, 

monetization approach, gameplay and interface, and audience, among other factors. 
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ANSWER: Paragraph 94 purports to state conclusions of law to which no response is 

required. To the extent a response is required to these conclusions, Microsoft denies those 

allegations. Microsoft admits that in some circumstances mobile-native games can have different 

levels of complexity and game quality than console- and PC-native games. Microsoft denies the 

remaining allegations contained in Paragraph 94. 

95. ALLEGATION: Multi-Game Content Library Subscription Services comprise a 

Relevant Market. The anticompetitive effects of the Proposed Acquisition also are reasonably 

likely to occur in any relevant antitrust market that contains Multi-Game Content Library 

Subscription Services, including a combined Multi-Game Content Library and Cloud Gaming 

Subscription Services market. 

ANSWER: Paragraph 95 purports to state conclusions of law to which no response is 

required. To the extent a response is required to these conclusions, Microsoft denies the 

allegations contained in Paragraph 95.  

III. Cloud Gaming Subscription Services are a Relevant Market 

96. ALLEGATION: Cloud Gaming Subscription Services are a relevant product 

market for evaluating the competitive effects of the Proposed Acquisition. 

ANSWER: Paragraph 96 purports to state conclusions of law to which no response is 

required. To the extent a response is required to these conclusions, Microsoft denies the 

allegations contained in Paragraph 96.  

97. ALLEGATION: The Relevant Market for Cloud Gaming Subscription Services 

includes services that offer the ability to play predominantly non-mobile video games via cloud 

streaming. 

ANSWER: Paragraph 97 purports to state conclusions of law to which no response is 

required. To the extent a response is required to these conclusions, Microsoft denies the 

allegations contained in Paragraph 97.  

98. ALLEGATION: The Relevant Market includes Multi-Game Content Library 

Subscription Services that offer access to games via cloud streaming as well as any services that 
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offer streaming via a “Bring Your Own Game” (“BYOG”) approach where users play games 

they own in their own personal library by streaming those games through their Cloud Gaming 

Subscription Service. In all cases, users pay a periodic fee, either monthly or yearly, to access the 

Cloud Gaming Subscription Service. 

ANSWER: Paragraph 98 purports to state conclusions of law to which no response is 

required. To the extent a response is required to these conclusions, Microsoft denies the 

allegations contained in Paragraph 98.  

99. ALLEGATION: Cloud Gaming Subscription Services provide a way to play 

games that is distinct from running them locally on the player’s gaming device. Such 

subscription services make predominantly non-mobile video games available instantly on a wide 

variety of devices, reducing the need for gamers to make large investments in expensive 

hardware, such as a High- Performance Console or a gaming PC, and eliminating download 

time. 

ANSWER: Microsoft admits that cloud gaming may, provided certain conditions (such 

as the availability of sufficient Internet access) are met, allow customers to stream some games 

from the cloud rather than downloading them to play locally on their devices, including on 

consoles, PCs, and mobile devices. Microsoft denies the remaining allegations contained in 

Paragraph 99. 

100. ALLEGATION: Cloud Gaming Subscription Services are designed to reach a 

different set of consumers than other forms of game distribution. These subscription services 

enable gaming on devices that do not meet the minimum specifications for large and 

technologically complex games, such as older and less expensive PCs, MacBooks, 

Chromebooks, tablets, mobile devices, and smart TVs. They also enable gamers to play games 

that were developed for other devices and/or operating systems. Microsoft has estimated that the 

total addressable market for cloud gaming is approximately 3 billion users, compared to 200 

million console users. 
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ANSWER: Microsoft avers that it lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a 

belief as to the truth of the allegations concerning other industry participants. Microsoft admits 

that cloud gaming requires advanced technology and sufficient Internet services. Microsoft 

denies the remaining allegations contained in Paragraph 108. 

ANTICOMPETITIVE EFFECTS 

109. ALLEGATION: The Proposed Acquisition is reasonably likely to substantially 

lessen competition or tend to create a monopoly in the Relevant Markets by creating a combined 

firm with the ability and increased incentive to withhold Activision’s valuable gaming content 

from, or degrade Activision’s content for, Microsoft’s rivals. The combined firm would have the 

ability to exclude Microsoft’s rivals from access to some or all of Activision’s content in the 

Relevant Markets. Microsoft would have the power to decide if, when, and to what extent 

Activision content will be available on competing products. The Proposed Acquisition is likely 

to increase entry barriers, thereby dampening beneficial rivalry and innovation. If permitted to 

make Activision a captive supplier, Microsoft would have a substantially increased incentive to 

engage in strategies to that would likely lead to reduced consumer choice, higher prices or lower 

quality products, and less innovation. 

ANSWER: Paragraph 109 purports to state conclusions of law to which no response is 

required. To the extent a response is required to these conclusions, Microsoft denies those 

allegations.  

I. As the Owner of Activision’s Gaming Content, Microsoft Would Have the Ability to 

Disadvantage Rivals by Withholding or Degrading Activision Content in the 

Relevant Markets 

110. ALLEGATION: AAA gaming content is a substantially important input for 

High-Performance Consoles, Multi-Game Content Library Subscription Services and Cloud 

Gaming Subscription Services, as these products use AAA content to attract and retain users and 

drive adoption. AAA content is difficult to produce given the intense resources and specialized 

competency required to develop these valuable games. 
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ANSWER: Paragraph 110 purports to state conclusions of law to which no response is 

required. To the extent a response is required to these conclusions, Microsoft denies those 

allegations. Microsoft admits that it is valuable to have a variety of content available on Xbox 

and Game Pass. Microsoft denies the remaining allegations contained in Paragraph 110. 

111. ALLEGATION: Activision is a leader amongst an already limited number of 

developers able to produce such content through its cherished gaming franchises, including Call 

of Duty, Diablo, and Overwatch. As the owner of Activision’s gaming content, Microsoft would 

have the ability to disadvantage rivals by withholding or degrading Activision content in the 

Relevant Markets. 

ANSWER: Paragraph 111 purports to state conclusions of law to which no response is 

required. To the extent a response is required to these conclusions, Microsoft denies those 

allegations. Microsoft denies the remaining allegations contained in Paragraph 111. 

A. AAA Content is a Substantially Important Input for Products in the 

Relevant Markets 

112. ALLEGATION: As discussed above, AAA gaming content is an important input 

for consoles and gaming subscription services. AAA games typically represent an outsized 

portion of revenue on these products and drive greater engagement and adoption. 

ANSWER: Microsoft admits that it is valuable to have a variety of content available on 

Xbox and Game Pass. Microsoft denies the remaining allegations contained in Paragraph 112. 

113. ALLEGATION: Microsoft’s own executives repeatedly emphasize the 

importance of such content. In a 2019 internal email, Xbox’s then-Chief Marketing Officer told 

Microsoft’s Mr. Nadella that Game Pass “must have [first-party] AAA games,” elaborating that 

Microsoft needs such first-party, AAA games to be “[n]ot just good, but great – ‘Sopranos’ or 

‘House of Cards’ equivalents that make the world stop and take notice.” In a June 2020 

conversation between other Microsoft executives about Game Pass growth drivers, one aptly 

points out, “content is king.” 
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subscription services. For example, although previous titles in ZeniMax’s Elder Scrolls franchise 

were released on PlayStation, Microsoft has confirmed that the upcoming Elder Scrolls VI will 

be available only on Xbox consoles, Windows PCs, and Xbox Game Pass subscription services. 

Microsoft has also stated that Starfield and Redfall, two of the highly anticipated new games in 

development at the time of Microsoft’s purchase of ZeniMax, will also become Xbox console 

and Xbox Game Pass exclusives upon release. 

ANSWER: To the extent the Complaint is referencing documents, Microsoft respectfully 

refers the Court to the documents for an accurate and complete statement of their contents. 

Microsoft admits that it acquired ZeniMax, the parent company of several studios, in 2021; that 

following Microsoft’s acquisition of ZeniMax, several ZeniMax titles have been released on 

PlayStation, including two new ZeniMax titles that were exclusive to PlayStation upon release, 

as well as new updates of Elder Scrolls Online and Fallout 76; that Redfall was released on 

Xbox, PC, and Game Pass day-and-date;  that Mighty DOOM, a mobile game, was released on 

iPhone and Android; and that some future ZeniMax games may be exclusive to Xbox, PC, and 

Game Pass when they are initially released. Microsoft further avers that this approach is 

consistent with Microsoft’s representations to the European Commission (“EC”), as the EC has 

publicly stated. Microsoft denies the remaining allegations contained in Paragraph 127.  

128. ALLEGATION: Microsoft’s previous representations to the EC about its 

incentives after its purchase of ZeniMax were not borne out by Microsoft’s own post-merger 

behavior. Instead, Microsoft put its true post-merger incentives on full display when it decided to 

deny rivals its newly acquired future releases and thwart consumers who would choose to play 

them on a competing product. Microsoft’s past behavior should also cast more suspicion on its 

non-binding public commitments to keep Call of Duty available on PlayStation consoles through 

the end of Activision’s existing agreement with Sony (i.e., through 2024). 

ANSWER: Microsoft denies the allegations contained in Paragraph 128. 

129. ALLEGATION: Microsoft is eager to further build upon its already significant 

strength in gaming, with Mr. Nadella declaring publicly, “Microsoft’s all-in on gaming.” 
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Looking to reap the financial opportunity available in the gaming industry, Microsoft would be 

incentivized to withhold Activision content from, or degrade content on, rival products in order 

to disadvantage its rivals, thereby weakening competition and increasing its profits. 

ANSWER: To the extent the Complaint is referencing documents, Microsoft respectfully 

refers the Court to the documents for an accurate and complete statement of their contents. 

Microsoft denies the remaining allegations contained in Paragraph 129. 

130. ALLEGATION: Moreover, as Microsoft internally recognizes, acquisitions in 

this industry may contribute to a domino effect of further consolidation. This Proposed 

Acquisition—the largest ever announced in the gaming industry—poses a reasonable probability 

of further accelerating this trend. 

ANSWER: To the extent the Complaint is referencing documents, Microsoft respectfully 

refers the Court to the documents for an accurate and complete statement of their contents. 

Microsoft denies the remaining allegations contained in Paragraph 130. 

IV. Withholding Activision Content From, or Degrading Activision Content On, 

Microsoft’s Rival Products Will Harm Competition and Consumers in the Relevant 

Markets 

131. ALLEGATION: Withholding Activision content from, or degrading Activision 

content on, Microsoft’s rivals’ products is reasonably likely to substantially lessen competition in 

the Relevant Markets. 

ANSWER: Paragraph 131 purports to state conclusions of law to which no response is 

required. To the extent a response is required to these conclusions, Microsoft denies those 

allegations.  

132. ALLEGATION: This lessening of competition will result in harm to consumers, 

including reduced consumer choice, reduced product quality, higher prices, and less innovation. 

ANSWER: Paragraph 132 purports to state conclusions of law to which no response is 

required. To the extent a response is required to these conclusions, Microsoft denies those 

allegations.  
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LACK OF COUNTERVAILING FACTORS 

133. ALLEGATION: Microsoft cannot demonstrate that entry or expansion in the 

Relevant Markets would be timely, likely, or sufficient to reverse the anticompetitive effects of 

the Proposed Acquisition. 

ANSWER: Paragraph 133 purports to state conclusions of law to which no response is 

required. To the extent a response is required to these conclusions, Microsoft denies those 

allegations.  

134. ALLEGATION: Microsoft cannot demonstrate that the Proposed Acquisition 

would likely generate verifiable, cognizable, merger-specific efficiencies that would reverse the 

likely competitive harm from the Proposed Acquisition. 

ANSWER: Paragraph 134 purports to state conclusions of law to which no response is 

required. To the extent a response is required to these conclusions, Microsoft denies those 

allegations.  

LIKELIHOOD OF SUCCESS ON THE MERITS, 
BALANCE OF EQUITIES, AND NEED FOR RELIEF 

135. ALLEGATION: Section 13(b) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 53(b), authorizes the 

Commission, whenever it has reason to believe that a proposed merger is unlawful, to seek 

preliminary injunctive relief to prevent consummation of a merger until the Commission has had 

an opportunity to adjudicate the merger’s legality in an administrative proceeding. In deciding 

whether to grant relief, the Court must balance the likelihood of the Commission’s ultimate 

success on the merits against the equities, using a sliding scale. The principal equity in cases 

brought under Section 13(b) is the public’s interest in effective enforcement of the antitrust laws 

and ensuring the Commission is not deprived of the ability to order appropriate relief. Private 

equities affecting only Microsoft’ interests cannot tip the scale against a preliminary injunction. 

ANSWER: Paragraph 135 purports to state conclusions of law to which no response is 

required. To the extent a response is required to these conclusions, Microsoft denies those 

allegations.  
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136. ALLEGATION: The Commission is likely to succeed in proving that the effect 

of the Proposed Acquisition may be substantially to lessen competition or tend to create a 

monopoly in violation of Section 7 of the Clayton Act and/or Section 5 of the FTC Act, and that 

the Merger Agreement and Proposed Acquisition constitute unfair methods of competition in 

violation of Section 5 of the FTC Act. 

ANSWER: Paragraph 136 purports to state conclusions of law to which no response is 

required. To the extent a response is required to these conclusions, Microsoft denies those 

allegations.  

137. ALLEGATION: Preliminary relief is warranted and necessary. Should the 

Commission rule, after the full administrative proceeding, that the Proposed Acquisition is 

unlawful, reestablishing the status quo would be difficult, if not impossible, if the Proposed 

Acquisition has already occurred in the absence of preliminary relief. Allowing the Proposed 

Acquisition to close before the completion of the administrative proceeding would enable the 

combined firm to, among other things, begin altering Activision’s operations and business plans, 

accessing Activision’s sensitive business information, eliminating key Activision personnel, 

changing Activision’s game development efforts, and entering into new contractual relationships 

on behalf of Activision. In the absence of relief from this Court, harm to competition would 

occur in the interim. 

ANSWER: Paragraph 137 purports to state conclusions of law to which no response is 

required. To the extent a response is required to these conclusions, Microsoft denies those 

allegations. Microsoft denies the remaining allegations contained in Paragraph 137. 

138. ALLEGATION: Accordingly, the equitable relief requested here is in the public 

interest. The Commission respectfully requests that the Court: 

1. Enter a temporary restraining order and preliminarily enjoin Microsoft from 

consummating the Proposed Acquisition, or any other acquisition of stock, 

assets, or other interests of one another, either directly or indirectly; 
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2. Retain jurisdiction and maintain the status quo until the administrative 

proceeding initiated by the Commission is concluded; and 

3. Award such other and further relief as the Court may determine is appropriate, 

just, and proper. 

ANSWER: Paragraph 138 purports to state conclusions of law to which no response is 

required. To the extent a response is required to these conclusions, Microsoft denies those 

allegations. 

AFFIRMATIVE AND OTHER DEFENSES 

Microsoft asserts the following defenses with respect to the causes of action alleged in 

the Complaint, without assuming the burden of production, proof or persuasion where such 

burden rests on the FTC. Microsoft has not knowingly or intentionally waived any applicable 

defenses, and it reserves the right to assert and rely upon other applicable defenses that may 

become available or apparent throughout the course of the action. 

1. The Complaint fails to state a claim upon which relief can be granted. 

2. The Complaint fails to allege a plausible relevant product market or markets. 

3. The Complaint fails to allege a plausible relevant geographic market. 

4. The Complaint fails to allege undue share in any plausibly defined relevant 

market. 

5. The Complaint fails to allege any harm to competition. 

6. The Complaint fails to allege any harm to consumers or consumer welfare. 

7. The combination of Microsoft’s gaming business with Activision’s business will 

be procompetitive. The transaction will result in substantial acquisition-specific efficiencies, 

synergies, and other procompetitive effects that will directly benefit consumers. These benefits 

will greatly outweigh any and all proffered anticompetitive effects. 

8. There will be no harm to competition, consumers, or consumer welfare because 

there is, and will continue to be, entry and expansion by competitors, which is timely, likely, and 

sufficient. 
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9. The alleged harm to potential competition is not actionable.  

10. The FTC cannot provide clear proof that the combination of Microsoft’s gaming 

business and Activision’s business would restrain trade in the alleged markets for “multi-game 

content library subscription services” or “cloud gaming subscription services” because but-for 

the proposed transaction, Activision’s games would not be available on any such service. 

11. The FTC fails to allege a time frame for the alleged anticompetitive effects. 

12. The FTC is not entitled to relief because none of Microsoft’s conduct identified in 

the Complaint is actionable---independently or in the aggregate---under the antitrust laws.  

13. Microsoft’s offers of binding contractual commitments to continue to offer certain 

titles like Call of Duty to other gaming companies, including Nintendo and Sony, for at least ten 

years address all of the alleged anticompetitive effects in the alleged markets and ensure that 

there will be no harm to competition or consumers.  

14. The FTC’s claims are too speculative to support any claim on whichrelief can be 

granted. 

15. The injunctive relief the Complaint seeks is inconsistent with the public interest 

and the balance of the equities. 

16. The FTC cannot show that Activision is likely to make its content available on 

content subscription libraries or cloud gaming platforms but for the merger.  

17. The FTC cannot show that Microsoft or Activision has market power with respect 

to any relevant market. 

18. The effects of the merger will be pro-competitive and this is in the public interest. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Microsoft respectfully requests that the Court enter judgment: 

1. Dissolving the temporary restraining order; 

2. Denying the FTC’s request for injunctive relief; 

3. Dismissing the Complaint with prejudice; 

4. Awarding Microsoft costs and expenses incurred in defending this action; and 
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5. Awarding such other relief the Court deems just and proper. 
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Dated: June 29, 2023     Respectfully submitted, 
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